0+7

4-26

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Complainant,

vs.

Supreme Court Case No. 81,464

Chief Deputy Clean

SHARON LEA KLEINFELD,

Respondent.

On Petition for Review

Initial Brief of Complainant

RANDI KLAYMAN LAZARUS Bar Counsel The Florida Bar 444 Brickell Avenue Suite M-100 Miami, Florida 33131 (305) 377-4445

JOHN F. HARKNESS, JR. Executive Director The Florida Bar 650 Apalachee Parkway Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300 (904) 561-5600

JOHN T. BERRY Staff Counsel The Florida Bar 650 Apalachee Parkway Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300 (904) 561-5600

INTRODUCTION

For the purposes of this brief, The Florida Bar will be referred to as "The Florida Bar", "the Bar" or "Florida Bar". Sharon Lea Kleinfeld will be referred to as "Respondent" or "Ms. Kleinfeld" or "Sharon Kleinfeld".

Abbreviations utilized in this Brief are as follows: "TR" will refer to the transcript of the final hearing held on September 22, 1993, October 6, 1993 and October 20, 1993. "TR.1" will refer to the transcript of the Referee recommendation as to discipline on October 22, 1993. The Report of Referee will be referred to as "A1" in that it is attached as the first document in the Appendix included with this brief. Petitioner's Third Affidavit in Support of Judicial Disqualification dated March 20, 1992 will be referred to as "A2" in that it is attached as the second document in the Appendix included with this brief.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

On March 23, 1993, The Florida Bar filed its complaint charging Respondent with misconduct which arose from Respondent's representation of Thomas Freiheit during a trial before the Honorable Geoffrey Cohen, Broward Circuit Judge in January of 1992 and Respondent's filing of two false affidavits.

A final hearing was held before the Honorable Leonard Glick, Referee on September 22, 1993; October 6, 1993 and October 20, 1993. The Referee's recommendation of discipline was announced on October 22, 1993. The Florida Bar presented the Honorable Geoffrey Cohen, as its first witness. Judge Cohen has been a member of The Florida Bar for seventeen years and a Judge for nine years handling civil and criminal cases. (TR. 84,87) Judge Cohen presided over the trial of Thomas Freiheit versus Tamarac Lakes North Association which commenced on January 13, 1992 (TR 87-88) The Respondent represented Mr. Freiheit at trial. (TR. 88) The Pre-Trial Stipulation indicated Respondent's employer David Weiss, as the attorney of record. (TR. 91) Ms. Kleinfeld did appear at trial on January 13, 14, and 15, 1992 (TR. 88) The trial was to continue on January 16, 1992 at 10:00 a.m. and most likely conclude on that day (TR. 89)

On the morning of January 16, 1992, Judge Cohen was advised by his secretary that a number of telephone calls were received from Respondent's father, Sam Kleinfeld, stating that Respondent was ill at home or on the way to the hospital and could not appear in court that day. (TR. 94). Judge Cohen advised his secretary that she should tell Mr. Kleinfeld to travel to Respondent's home or to the

hospital and also to have Ms. Kleinfeld telephone the Judge's Chambers. (TR. 94) Mr. Kleinfeld refused to travel to either Respondent's home or to the hospital. Also, at this point Respondent never personally telephoned the court nor did any individual from Respondent's law firm telephone the court. (TR. 94, 97) Mr. Kleinfeld was later advised to tell his daughter that she was to present herself before the Court so Judge Cohen could observe her to determine whether "the illness" was feigned. (TR. 95) Judge Cohen had never in his career required the appearance of an attorney who called in sick. The Judge believed the Respondent was engaging in an artifice to secure a mistrial because Respondent was not prevailing in the trial. (TR. 106,107) The Respondent finally telephoned the Court at 2:05 p.m. and requested to meet with Judge Cohen to explain her absence earlier that day. When Judge Cohen arrived from a late lunch at 2:40 p.m. or 2:45 p.m. his secretary told him of Respondent's telephone call. He instructed his secretary to contact Ms. Kleinfeld and convey his order that she in fact appear before him that afternoon. Judge Cohen's secretary did call the Respondent and did advise her to appear in The Respondent agreed. (TR. 102) court at 4:00 p.m. (TR. 98) From 4:00 p.m. to 6:00 p.m. Judge Cohen, the attorney for the Defendant, the Court Reporter, the Bailiff and the Judge's secretary waited for Ms. Kleinfeld to arrive. (TR. 100) Prior to 4:00 p.m. the Respondent telephoned the Judge's secretary and advised she was waiting for a delivery and would arrive at 5:15 p.m. (TR. 102,103,104) At 4:55 p.m. the Respondent called and advised the Judge's secretary that she had just cashed a check in

order to take a taxi and would arrive at 5:45 p.m. (TR. 104) parties previously mentioned waited until 6:00 p.m. for the Respondent, who was already three (3) hours late. Respondent did not arrive. (TR. 105) On the following morning the Judge's secretary found a message on their telephone answering machine supposedly called in on January 16, 1992 at 6:05 p.m. from the Respondent. The Respondent stated that she was twenty minutes from the courthouse on I-95 in bumper-to-bumper traffic and would be taking the Turnpike. (TR. 171) Judge Cohen remarked that that statement made absolutely no sense geographically since the Turnpike is many, many miles west of the courthouse and it would be illogical to take it as an alternative route. As a result of Respondent's failure to appear both for trial and later in the afternoon of January 16, 1992, Judge Cohen issued an Order to Show Cause for direct criminal contempt. (TR. 109) Respondent was to appear on February 7, 1992, in regard to that order. (TR. 110)

Mr. Freiheit's trial was set to continue on February 6, 1992 at 10:00 a.m. (TR. 108) On that day all parties were present for the continuation of the Freiheit trial, except for the Respondent. (TR. 111) At 10:15 a.m., Respondent's office telephoned the court to advise that Respondent was having car trouble and would arrive within fifteen (15) to twenty (20) minutes. (TR. 111-112) Sometime after 10:30 a.m. Respondent's father approached the bench and offered to represent Mr. Freiheit, since his daughter had not yet arrived. Respondent's father was not affiliated in any way with Respondent's law firm, nor had any familiarity with the file, and had never even spoken with Mr. Freiheit. (TR. 114) Judge Cohen

would not allow Mr. Kleinfeld to stand in for his daughter. (TR. 114) Brenda Harman, an attorney from Respondent's office approached the court and advised that she would appear on behalf of Mr. Freiheit, provided that Respondent's father assisted her. The court rejected the proposal. (TR. 115) Months later Brenda Harman, in an informal setting expressed gratitude to Judge Cohen for not forcing her to proceed to trial, since she was unprepared to do so. (TR. 118)

On February 6, 1992, at 10:46 a.m. as a result of Respondent's failure to appear for the second time to conclude the Freiheit case Judge Cohen dismissed the case with prejudice. (TR. 119) The Judge remained in the courtroom until 11:00 a.m. and Respondent had still not arrived. Respondent did not make any attempts to contact the Court any time during the day of February 6, 1992 (TR. 119,120). Consequently, a second Order to Show Cause for direct criminal contempt was issued for Respondent who was to appear on March 20, 1992. (TR. 121)

February 7, 1992, was the day Respondent was to appear as a result of her non-appearance on January 16, 1992 for trial and in the afternoon. (TR. 122) At 8:23 a.m. the Respondent had left a message for the Judge stating she had a hearing that day but was unsure of the time, in addition to requesting a continuance. A motion had not been filed by the Respondent. (TR. 123) The Judge directed his secretary to call Respondent and advise her that the request to continue was denied and Respondent must appear at 10:00 a.m. (TR. 123) The Judge expected Respondent to appear. (TR. 127) Respondent did not appear. (TR. 128) The Court then issued another

Order to Show Cause, as well as an Order of Arrest. Judge Cohen later learned that Respondent had filed a Motion for Arraignment, Motion for Jury Trial and Motion for Judicial Disqualification on that same day. (TR. 124) Respondent was ultimately arrested. (TR. 128)

Judge Cohen also testified in regard to two affidavits executed by the Respondent and filed with the courts in support of judicial disqualification. One affidavit stated that Judge Cohen made repeated references in and out of the presence of the jury to Ms. Kleinfeld as the relative of Morris Kleinfeld, a convicted murderer in Broward County. (TR. 129) Judge Cohen stated that Respondent's sworn assertions were a bold faced lie. (TR. 129) In reality, prior to the court reporter setting up and the jury entering Judge Cohen asked Respondent, in a jocular way, if she was related to Morris Kleinfeld. The Respondent looked at the Judge quizzically, as if she did not know who the individual was. (TR. 181) That was the only mention made throughout a three day trial. (TR. 130)

Judge Cohen then spoke about the Respondent's affidavit in which she stated:

Prior to his withdrawal of Petitioner's defense, Attorney Richard received a telephone call from Judge Cohen threatening to dismiss said attorney's cases, unrelated division, for the purpose of intimidating said attorney during his representation of the Petitioner.

[Appendix 2, (TR. 132)]

Judge Cohen testified that the contents of the affidavit were untrue. He said:

That's an incredible lie. ... I felt these misrepresentations and perpetrated by Ms. Kleinfeld to secure a particular purpose. What she sought to disqualify accomplish was ţо either myself or failing to do that, have the Fourth District Court of Appeal grant her petition for a writ of certiorari to not allow me to continue in this case. was an artifice engaged to accomplish this purpose, in my view.

(TR. 133)

The Florida Bar presented Patricia Clark as its second witness. Patricia Clark was Judge Cohen's judicial assistant from December 27, 1988 through May 21, 1993. (TR. 244) Ms. Clark attested to the events which transpired on January 16, 1992. Kleinfeld telephoned and stated that his daughter was ill and was unable to attend court. (TR. 245) Judge Cohen directed Ms. Clark to advise Mr. Kleinfeld that he was to tell his daughter she was required to appear at 10:00 a.m. Mr. Kleinfeld said his daughter was too ill and that Ms. Clark could call her at home. Ms. Clark called the Respondent at home at 9:00 a.m. and got her answering machine. (TR. 246,247) Ms. Clark left Respondent a message stating she had to appear at 10:00 a.m. for trial. At 10:00 a.m., Mr. Kleinfeld called Patricia Clark and advised that his daughter had received the message and would not appear. (TR. 247,248) Kleinfeld was advised by Patricia Clark, pursuant to the Judge's directive, to have Ms. Kleinfeld call the office within five (5) minutes. He said he would. Mr. Kleinfeld then called back saying he was unable to reach her. (TR. 248) Ms. Clark, pursuant to Judge Cohen's directive advised Mr. Kleinfeld to go to his daughter's home and drive her to court. Mr. Kleinfeld advised he did not know which hospital Respondent went to and she was not home. (TR. 249) Ms. Kleinfeld called the Judge's Chambers at 2:05 p.m. and said she was too ill to come to court but would get into her car and go to court immediately if Judge Cohen requested her to do so. (TR. 251) Ms. Clark called Respondent and advised her that Judge Cohen did want the Respondent to appear in court at 4:00 p.m. on that day. The Respondent agreed. (TR. 252) At 3:50 p.m. Respondent called again and advised she was unable to drive and would endeavor to get transportation and try to be there by 5:00 p.m. (TR. 253) Respondent called again at 4:20 p.m. and advised she would definitely appear by 5:15 p.m. (TR. 254) At 4:55 p.m., Respondent telephoned again and said she had cashed a check, was on her way in a cab and would be there by 5:40 p.m. (TR. 255) Patricia Clark, Judge Cohen, Mr. Ginsburg, Jan McLauglin and the bailiff left at 6:00 p.m. Respondent never arrived. (TR. 256)

Patricia Clark also testified as to the events of February 6, 1992. At 10:15 a.m., Respondent's office left a message stating that Respondent had car trouble and would arrive within fifteen (15) to twenty (20) minutes. Ms. Clark remained in the office all day except for lunch. (TR. 262) Ms. Kleinfeld did not appear during any part of that day nor did she leave a note or telephone message. (TR. 262,263)

Patricia Clark attested to the events of February 7, 1992 as well. She retrieved a telephone message from the Respondent at 8:23 a.m. (TR. 264) Respondent stated that she thought she had a hearing, but did not know the time. She also asked for a continuance. Ms. Clark, pursuant to Judge Cohen's directive

telephoned the Respondent and advised that the hearing would not continued and Respondent was required to appear at 10:00 a.m. (TR. 265) She did not. (TR. 267)

Thomas Freiheit was the Bar's third witness. He retained Parillo, Weiss and O'Halloran to represent him in regard to injuries he sustained at his mother's condominium. (TR. 285) He stated that Judge Cohen treated him fairly and treated both Ms. Kleinfeld and her opposing counsel equally. (TR. 287) Mr. Freiheit did not recall Judge Cohen making any references to Ms. Kleinfeld, as the relative of Morris Kleinfeld. (TR. 287) Ms. Kleinfeld did not explain to Mr. Freiheit why she had not appeared on his behalf on January 16, 1992 or February 6, 1992. (TR. 289) Mr. Freiheit did not pursue his underlying case because he "gave up". He could not take any more time off from work and his mother was too old. (TR. 290)

The Bar's fourth witness was Richard Rosenbaum. He has been a member of The Florida Bar since 1984. Mr. Rosenbaum filed a Notice of Appearance on behalf of the Respondent with Judge Cohen on February 18, 1992. Mr. Rosenbaum gave testimony in regard to the affidavit sworn to by Respondent which stated that Judge Cohen had telephoned him and threatened him. He said he never received a telephone call from Judge Cohen and never told Ms. Kleinfeld or any person that he had received a threatening telephone call from Judge Cohen. (TR. 319-320) Mr. Rosenbaum drafted his own affidavit after he had seen statements attributed to him by the Respondent. He was quite upset. (TR. 353) He studied Ms. Kleinfeld's affidavit carefully enough to know that it was blatantly false. (TR. 356) He

also stated the following:

A Number one, it meant that Judge Cohen had contact with me that he never had.

Number two, it meant that I was, for lack of better work [sic], a wimp that would cave in to a judge to get off a case. That's not my style or my personality.

Number three, it upset me because it was after my representation and it would be an easy thing for Sharon to contact me and say, "I'm doing an affidavit. Let's talk about this," so that she could see if it had any merit whatsoever.

That is what was upsetting.

Additionally, since I continue to practice in Broward County and have cases with this judge, I felt that that impugned my integrity?

- Q Did you also feel that it impugned the judge's integrity?
- A I thought so. If a judge is calling someone to try to get them off a case, I think that that is wrong.

I'm not trying to put myself down, but I am no Roy Black and there is no reason for a judge to call me to get me off a case.

(TR. 363,364)
Questions were asked by Bar Counsel and Answered by Richard Rosenbaum)

The Bar then called Harvey Ginsburg. Mr. Ginsburg represented Tamarac Lakes North Association in the matter before Judge Cohen. He has been a member of The Florida Bar since 1987. Mr. Ginsburg was present during the entire trial. (TR. 373) He testified that Judge Cohen did not make repeated references in and out of the presence of the jury to Sharon Kleinfeld as the relative of Morris

Kleinfeld. He did recall one minimal reference prior to jury selection. Ms. Kleinfeld reacted as if she had not ever heard of Morris Kleinfeld. (TR. 374) Ms. Kleinfeld did not appear upset at the reference. Mr. Ginsburg did not feel that Ms. Kleinfeld was treated unfairly by Judge Cohen. (TR. 375) Mr. Ginsburg felt his client had been adversely affected by Respondent's failure to appear. (TR. 378) His client was forced to pay taxable costs in the neighborhood of three to four thousand dollars, transcript expenses, printing expenses, attorney travel time for oral argument on appeal and other related expenses. Mr. Ginsburg believed the total cost to his client was ten thousand dollars (\$10,000.00). (TR. 380) Mr. Ginsburg stated the following:

...[T]here was an unnecessary expenditure of money which was caused exclusively by the necessity of an appeal brought on by the failure to appear by Sharon Kleinfeld.

(TR. 383)

Jan McLaughlin testified as The Florida Bar's final witness in its case in chief. Ms. McLaughlin is the court reporter who was assigned to report the trial in Freiheit v. Tamarac Lakes in January of 1992. (TR. 406) Ms. McLaughlin did recall Judge Cohen's one reference to whether or not Ms. Kleinfeld was related to Morris Kleinfeld. It occurred just after she had arrived in the courtroom and was setting up. (TR. 407) There were no other references to Sharon Kleinfeld being the relative of Morris Kleinfeld. (TR. 408) Ms. McLaughlin electronically scanned the 700 pages of the Freiheit trial and found a reference to Respondent as "Mrs. Kleinfeld" twice.

The Respondent presented her case. Stephen Robbins, a police captain with the City of Miami Beach testified on behalf of the Respondent, who is his sister-in-law. (TR. 541) He testified that in a family gathering Respondent discussed references by Judge Cohen to her as the relative of Morris Kleinfeld. Respondent's father was also present. (TR. 543) He also discussed Respondent's statement that her attorney Richard Rosenbaum was contacted by Judge Cohen in an effort to get Mr. Rosenbaum to "cooperate" or Rosenbaum would find problems with his other client's cases. (TR. 544) Captain Robbins did not recall any details in regard to the purported relaying of the information from Mr. Rosenbaum to the Respondent. (TR. 546)

Scott Feder, an attorney was Respondent's next witness. They are childhood friends. (TR. 548) Mr. Feder does not doubt Respondent's truth and veracity. (TR. 553) Mr. Feder had no independent knowledge of the instant matter. (TR. 554)

The deposition of attorney Raquel Rodriguez was then admitted, in lieu of her live testimony. (TR. 557) Ms. Rodriguez and the Respondent are college friends. (TR. 559) Ms. Rodriguez had no familiarity with the complaint of The Florida Bar against Respondent. (TR. 562) She believes Respondent is a truthful and honest person. (TR. 564)

The deposition of Dr. Michael Rose, a psychiatrist, was admitted into evidence, in lieu of his live testimony. (TR. 569) Dr. Rose met with Ms. Kleinfeld one time on March 12, 1992 for thirty (30) minutes to forty-five (45) minutes to evaluate her. (TR. 571-573) Dr. Rose believed Ms. Kleinfeld was intact

neurologically and was not on opiates. (TR. 578)

Peter Swartz, Respondent's landlord then testified. (TR. 610) Mr. Swartz feels the Respondent is the most honest attorney he has ever met. (TR. 613)

David Weiss, of Parillo, Weiss and O'Halloran who is Respondent's former employer testified. (TR. 617) Respondent told Mr. Weiss that she did not appear in court on January 16, 1992 because she was not feeling well and could not get to court. (TR. 624) On February 6, 1992, the day the Freiheit trial was to resume the Respondent advised Mr. Weiss that her car had broken down. (TR. 627) Mr. Weiss offered Mr. Freiheit \$25,000.00 because of the potential exposure to his firm. (TR. 630) The Respondent would not have contributed to that payment. (TR. 635)

Ms. Kleinfeld testified. She had been an attorney for eight (8) years and had tried between seventy-five (75) and one hundred (100) personal injury jury trials. (TR. 644,645) She testified that Judge Cohen asked about Morris Kleinfeld more than one time in a sarcastic way. (TR. 646) Respondent said Judge Cohen on several occasions called her "Mrs. Mor--- Kleinfeld" in a joking way and that he slurred it. (TR. 648, 649) Although Ms. Kleinfeld has made numerous objections in the 75 to 100 trials she participated in she did not make any objections on the record to Judge Cohen's purported remarks. (TR. 727) Respondent stated she was very sick on January 16, 1992 and called her father. (TR. 651) She asked him to the Judge's chambers, and she believed her office, but she was not certain about the request to call her office. (TR. 651) Respondent stated she called her physician Dr. Alexander, who

called in medication which was delivered to her hours later that day. (TR. 652) Bar Counsel asked Respondent why she had previously said Dr. Moises gave her an antibiotic. Ms. Kleinfeld said, "Did I say that? I probably did." and then explained because they both did. Dr. Alexander first and then Dr. Moises, the next day. 730) She did not know what type of medication Dr. Moises prescribed. (TR. 731) One was an antibiotic and the other was something for sleeping. (TR. 652) She did not keep the bottles, nor ask Dr. Alexander or the pharmacy for copies of records to support that she was in fact ill. (TR. 728) She slept for a couple of hours and then called Judge Cohen's chambers after hearing a message on her answering machine. (TR. 653) Ms. Kleinfeld said the Judge's secretary did not tell her that Judge Cohen had ordered her appearance. She said she would try to get to court. (TR. 655) She said she got into her car at rush hour and got stuck in traffic. She pulled over and called the court from a pay phone and left a message. (TR. 657) She did know where she got off or the exit but remembered using a telephone at a gas station. She could not remember any of the four corners. (TR. 733) She then went home. (TR. 657)

On February 6, 1992, the Respondent had a problem with her car. She called her secretary and told her to call the Judge and say she would be late. She ultimately arrived between 11:00 a.m. and 11:30 a.m. by taxi. (TR. 659) She did not keep a copy of a receipt or endeavor to obtain a copy of the taxi log. (TR. 735) Although her law firm would reimburse for a taxi ride Respondent could not produce an expense report or request for payment. (TR.

736) She went to the courtroom and no one was there. (TR. 666) She then went to the Judge's chambers and tapped on a glass window in the secretarial area. (TR. 667) Nobody came out, but Respondent thought she heard voices. (TR. 669) Respondent did not attempt to leave a note on the secretary's desk or on the adjoining secretary's desk. She did not tape a note to the Judge's door. (TR. 738,739) She did not telephone the Judge's chambers. (TR. 750) She called her office and then went home in a taxi. (TR. 670) Respondent at no point attempted to offer Judge Cohen an apology. (TR. 744)

On February 7, 1992, the date of Respondent's contempt hearing she prepared and couriered a Motion for Disqualification with one or more affidavits and a written request for arraignment. She believed she would be arraigned at another time and that a trial would take place thereafter. (TR. 672,673) Respondent believed that her Motion for Judicial Disqualification would be granted that morning. (TR. 675) The motion was not in fact granted on February 7, 1992. (TR. 679) After the order of arrest was issued the Respondent retained attorney Richard Rosenbaum. (TR. 681)

Respondent believed the affidavit regarding references by Judge Cohen to Morris Kleinfeld were true. (TR. 701) Inquiry was made of Ms. Kleinfeld in regard to the affidavit concerning Richard Rosenbaum. Respondent remembered Mr. Rosenbaum saying, "can you believe he is threatening to dismiss my cases?" (TR. 705) She thought Richard Rosenbaum had told her he received a telephone call. (TR. 707) When asked if Respondent had any idea why Richard Rosenbaum would testify under oath to the contrary, and lie, she

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