017

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE FLORI	DA BAR,		The Florida Bar File Nos. 92-71,024(11A)	
	Complainant,		and 93-70,168 (11A)	
vs.			Supreme Court Case No. 81, 464	7/5
SHARON L.	KLEINFELD,		NO. 01, 404	, ,
	Respondent.	\	FILE	
, maren 12	1		SIDIMPITE	
			Jun 28 1994	
			CLERK, SUPREME C	OURT
			ByChief Deputy Clerk	

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF

FRIEDMAN LAW FIRM 100 N. Biscayne Boulevard 30th floor Miami, FL 33132 (305) 358-8400

#

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

#### III. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Even assuming that the Respondent were guilty were guilty of all of the charges, suspension and not disbarment is the appropriate discipline in this case. However, it is respectfully suggested that the Referee may have erred in finding the Respondent guilty of a disciplinary violation where the alleged violations may have been negligent without being unethical, and

therefore are the subject of civil sanctions but not Bar discipline.

#### IV. ARGUMENTS

A. THE CASE LAW DOES NOT SUPPORT THE POSITION OF THE FLORIDA BAR.

In support of its argument, The Florida Bar has suggested that certain cases support a more serious discipline. In support of its position bar counsel refers to The Florida Bar v. Hoffer, 412 So. 2d 858 (Fla. 1982). However, The Florida Bar fails to mention that while Mr. Hoffer did receive a one year suspension in 1982 for the mere act of failing to appear, this one year suspension was made concurrent within existing two year suspension in The Florida Bar v. Hoffer, 383 So. 2d 639 (Fla. In the prior case, Hoffer had been found guilty of offenses involving dishonesty, including altering a release. Hoffer, 383 So. 2d 639 at 641. However, his suspension recommended by the Referee of three years at that case was reduced by the court to only two years. Likewise, The Florida Bar cites a Rubin case. The Florida Bar v. Rubin, 549 So. 2d 1000 (Fla. 1989). In that case, however Mr. Rubin received only a public reprimand. Rubin, at 1003.

The Florida Bar also cites the <u>Mims</u> case. The Florida Bar v. Mims 501 So. 2d 596 (Fla. 1987). The Florida Bar does not

mention, however, that the one year suspension in the Mims case also included charges of neglect, and not only the failure to comply with a court order. Mims at 597. Finally, The Florida Bar cites the case of The Florida Bar v. Newman, 513 So. 2d 653 (Fla. 1987). However, this court well knows that the Newman case was a multicount compliant, including charges of theft and dishonesty covering many transactions and many years.

Similarly, the suggestions of the Bar that disbarments ordered in the Weinsten, Rightmyer, and Gustafson cases is misplaced. See The Florida Bar v. Weinstein, 624 So. 2d 261 (Fla. 1993), The Florida Bar v. Rightmyer, 616 So. 2d 953 (Fla. 1993) and The Florida Bar v. Gustafson, 555 So. 2d 853 (Fla. 1990). The Weinstein case dealt with egregious conduct towards a client, coupled with misstatements to the Bar and further, Mr. Weinstein had a prior disciplinary history. See Weinstein, supra. In the Rightmyer, there were criminal perjury convictions, plus trust accounts violations which gave rise to the disbarment. Rightmyer at 954, supra. And, in the Gustafson case, Mr. Gustafson was also involved in the misuse of trust fund. Gustafson at 854, supra.

With all due respect, the case law does not support the position exposed The Florida Bar, and the use of these citations to suggest a more harsh discipline is a considerable stretch form what the case is actually hold.

B. ASSUMING THAT THE RESPONDENT WERE GUILTY OF ALL CHARGES, A SUSPENSION, RATHER THAN DISBARMENT IS THE APPROPRIATE DISCIPLINE.

Pursuant to the "Florida Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions", Standard 6.1 states that disbarment is appropriate only where a lawyer makes a false statement "with intent to deceive the court". Suspension is appropriate where the lawyer makes false statements but takes no remedial action. A public reprimand is appropriate where a lawyer is merely negligent in determining whether the statements are false, and an admonishment is appropriate for negligence in determining if statements are false where there is no actual or potential injury to a party or to the proceeding. The same disciplinary hierarchy also exists for the lack of proper diligence under Standard 4.4 which would be applicable for the failure of counsel to appear as found by the Referee.

In this case there are also the presence of mitigating factors set forth in Standard 9.3, including the absence of a prior disciplinary record, the absence of a dishonest or selfish motive, the existence of personal (medical) or emotional problems, and to a lesser degree the physical or mental disability or impairment of the Respondent.

A comparison memorandum of similar cases was made by the trial counsel in this matter and presented to the Court. Counsel below pointed out that in reviewing the similar misconduct cases,

the penalties range from public reprimand to a 60-day suspension. The trial counsel found no cases in which attorneys were disbarred or suspended for extended periods for similar conduct. In The Florida Bar v. Tindall, 550 So. 2d 449 (Fla. 1989), a public reprimand was approved by the Supreme Court where an attorney was charged with making unsubstantiated allegations against a Circuit Judge. The attorney also filed an action against certain parties in the prior litigation and accused the Circuit Judge of unfair disposition of the case and of accepting bribes from the defendants. The attorney later admitted that he had no evidence to establish any improper activity on the part of the Judge. Similarly, in Cerf v. State, 458 So. 2d 1071 (Fla. 1984), the attorney made allegations without any investigation as to their truth, and charged that a Judge had appointed political cronies and further implied that the Judge ordered the parties to pay the cronies substantial sums in order to repay a political contribution. The case was likewise approved as a public reprimand against the attorney.

In The Florida Bar v. Oxner, 431 So. 2d 983 (Fla. 1983), an attorney admitted to intentionally lying to the Judge both on the phone and in Court about the availability of a witness, in order to gain a continuance for trial. Even with this intentional lie, the penalty imposed was only a 60 day suspension. A ten day suspension was given in The Florida Bar v. Lund, 410 So. 2d 922 (Fla. 1982) where an attorney admitted that he was unaware that a small portion of his testimony was untrue, and that he had not

intentionally misrepresented. The case did not clearly explain the nature of the false statements, but a 10 day suspension was all that was entered.

In a case which might be considered even more serious, The Florida Bar v. Saphirstein, 276 So. 2d 7 (Fla. 1979), a more aggravating set of facts than in the instant case were considered by this Court. Mr. Saphirstein admitted to making a knowingly false statement about the integrity of a Referee whom he had tried to improperly influence. Despite this knowing statement, Saphirstein was suspended only for 60 days.

In the case before the Court, although the Referee found that the Respondent should have known that one of her statements was false, the entire tenor of testimony at the trial makes it clear that the Respondent believed her statements to be true, even if they are totally unfounded. A lawyer should not be disbarred on the first offense for even an unjustifiable belief, in the context of Bar proceedings, beyond the more minimal disciplines. Neither disbarment nor a long-term suspension is appropriate for an unintentional first offense. If the Respondent is to be suspended at all, her suspension should be for ninety days or less. This matter was clearly limited to a unique and singular episode involving a particular Judge. While everyone can question the Respondent's good judgment in this matter, there are no other indicators to show that this was her conduct in other cases handled by the Respondent as would warrant such a heavy discipline of disbarment or even long-term suspension.

Indeed, one need not look further than the record below to determine that the proceedings between the Respondent and Judge Cohen were irregular and unusual. It is not disputed that Judge Cohen did not authorize or permit a court reporter to be present to record hearings before him on February 19, 1992, during which he set bail conditions and bond for the Respondent.

With all due respect, there is good grounds for the Respondent to have believed that irregularities in the Court's conduct might have occurred on more than that one occasion.

C. THE CONDUCT OF THE RESPONDENT MAY HAVE BEEN CIVILLY NEGLIGENT, BUT IT SHOULD NOT HAVE GIVEN RISE TO DISCIPLINARY CHARGES

Errors made by a lawyer, including false and incorrect statements and pleadings (including an affidavit) do not automatically mean that the attorney who has filed the incorrect statement or made an error merit discipline. Indeed, in this case, the Court specifically found that the most serious violation was an incorrect statement in an affidavit in support of disqualification. However, such affidavits are only required to convey belief in the subject matter of the affidavit, and not necessarily to be a statement of the personal knowledge of the attorney. See Florida R.Civ.P. 1.510. The affiant is not supposed

to be required to prove the basis for the belief, nor need there be a solid factual basis for this belief in order for the affidavit to be legally correct and sufficient. Florida R.Civ.P. 1.432 (1992), now Florida R.Jud.Admin. 2.160 (1993). It is the subjective belief of the Petitioner which is at issue, and not whether "she has successfully established the actual existence of prejudice". Caleffe v. Vitale, 488 So. 2d 627, 629 (Fla. 4th DCA 1986). Therefore, even if, as the Referee determined below, her affidavit was too strongly stated or incorrect, and even if the Referee believes that she was mistaken in her facts, the Respondent was entitled to make her statement based upon her own personal belief, without being held to the standard of an ethical impropriety if her belief should be wrong.

Likewise, the failure of the Respondent to appear for a hearing in an isolated context of one case is not the same as a pattern of misconduct in numerous cases, and the Respondent should not be held to a standard higher than the standard of civil liability for her negligent failure to appear. This is particularly true where the Respondent was having medical difficulties and never evinced that her conduct was wilful or intentional, but merely negligent.

While the Court did find that there was prejudice to the Respondent's client, in the Frieheit v. Tamarac Lakes North

Association case, as a result of the Respondent's failure to appear for the continuation of that trial, the decision to dismiss the case with prejudice was a judicial error on the part

of the Judge and was reversed on appeal. Thomas Frieheit,

Appellant v. Tamarac Lakes North Association, Appellee, Case No.

92-0824, 18 FLW D468 (Fla. 4th DCA, Feb 10, 1993). Indeed, while
the Respondent could be held to have been negligent for failing
to appear, her failure to appear would not even rise to the level
of malpractice, if the prejudice occurred as a result of judicial
error, as occurred in the instant case. See Pennsylvania
Insurance Guaranty Association v. Sikes, 590 So. 2d 1051, 1052 1053 (Fla. 3d DCA 1991). In the Sikes case, supra, the defendant
was prejudiced by the attorney failing to deny allegations of
negligence in the defendant's answer. The attorney attempted to
answer, but the Court denied the motion and trial resulted in an
adverse verdict. The defendant then settled rather than
appealing and sued the attorney for malpractice.

The entire charged atmosphere in the Freiheit case, including the atmosphere at the hearing before Judge Cohen on March 5, 1992, Transcript at pages 9 - 10, further indicates that the Respondent was being questioned inappropriately about her usage of drugs (there was never any proof that any illegal drugs were used by the Respondent), and further could have reasonably led the Respondent to believe that other serious violations were occurring. It certainly helped support her genuineness of her belief that the Judge might have put pressure upon her lawyer as well. Indeed, trial counsel pointed out below that in the matter of In Re Inquiry Concerning a Judge, Judge Leonard A.

Damron, 487 So. 2d 1 (Fla. 1985), this Court removed a Judge from

office for attempting to discourage a party from exercising her rights to counsel by the threat of incarceration if the Judge was not provided with what he was seeking. In this charged atmosphere, if there are misstatements, they certainly ought to be looked at in a less harsh disciplinary context than in a less antagonistic atmosphere. Indeed, while Mr. Rosenbaum did dispute the statements which were attributed to him in the affidavit, it genuinely must be asked if the Respondent, by clear and convincing evidence was shown not to believe that the statement had been initially made by Mr. Rosenbaum. Certainly, in such a hotly disputed one-on-one confrontation, a three year suspension or disbarment should not be appropriate where there are indicia to amply support that Respondent's state of mind, including consideration of physical illness and use of medication, might allow a totally incorrect belief to be expressed in an affidavit.

## v. CONCLUSION

In the event this Court finds that the Respondent was indeed guilty of any or all of the charges, a suspension rather than disbarment is the appropriate discipline. Such a finding is consistent with the existing case law, and the unusual nature of conflict between the lawyer and the Judge in this instance. However, the conduct appears to be more strictly of a civil nature, and while it potentially could merit discipline, it is